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IN THE SUPERTOR COURT FOR TTIE STATE OF ALLASKA
FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT AT FAIRBANKS

DAVID S. HAEG,

Applicant,

" VS,

1 STATE OF ALLASKA,

Respondent.

: Case No. 4MC-09-00005 CI
i~ In Connection w/4AMC-04-024 CR

MOTION TO DISMISS APPLICATION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF

| VRA CERTIFICATION

I certify that this document and its attachments do not contain (1) the name of a victim of a sexual
| offense listed in AS [2.61.140 or {2) a residence or business address or ielephone number of a
victim of or witness to any crime unless it is an address used to identify the place of the crime or 1t
is an address or telephone number in a transcript of a court proceeding and disciosure of the
information was ordcred by the court.

COMES NOW the State of Alaska (hereinafler “State™), by and through

£]

n
L.

its undersigned Assistant Attorney General, Andrew Peterson, and pursuant to Criminal

E 30

ANCHORAGE, ALASKA 99501

5 & |1 Rule 35.{(f)(3) hereby moves this Court for dismissal of David S. Haeg’s (hereinaller

7] w

)

% tj‘i “Haeg™ or “Applicant”) Application for Post-Conviction Relief for the reasons stated
e,

=S

[ =]

-
5

below. For purposes of a factual summary, the State will rely upon the facts and

SIGF

|1 proceedings statement set lorth by the Court of Appeals decision in Hacg v. State, 2008

WL 4181532 (Alaska App. 2008). Scc Exh. A.




STATE OF ALASKA
DEPARTMENT OF Law

OQFFICE OF SPECIAL PROSECUTIONS AND APPEALS

310 K STREET, SUITE 308
ANCHORAGE, ALASKA 99501

(907} 269-6250

Haeg alleges three grounds for relief from his conviction in 4MC-04-024
CR. Haeg, however, fails to plead a prima facie case of ineffective assistance of
counsel or any other grounds which would justify this Court granting him the relief

sought.

Haeg was entitled to effective assistance of counsel. He was not entitled

to error free assistance. Tucker v. State, 892 P.2d 832, 835 (Alaska App. 1995); Sate v.

Jones, 759 P.2d 558, 568 (Alaska App. 1988). The constitution guarantees only a fair
trial and a gompetent attorney; it does not insure that defense counsel will recognize and
raise ever;/ conceivable constitutional claim. Jones, 759 P.2d at 568 (citing Murray v,
Carrier, 477 U.S. 487, 106 S.Ct. 2639, 2645 (1986)).

In evaluating ineffective assistance claims, the court engages in a two

pronged analysis. Risher v. State, 523 P.2d 421 (Alaska 1974). The court must first

determine if counsel performed at least as well as a lawyer with ordinary training and
skill in the criminal law and conscientiously protected the client’s interest, undeflected

by conflicting considerations. Risher, 523 P.2d at 424 (quoting Beasley v. United States,

491 F.2d 687, 696 (6th Cir. 1974)). The court then determines if the incompetence
contributed to the conviction. Risher, 523 P.2d at 425. The two prongs of the Risher
standard are the performance prong and a prejudice prong. Jones, 759 P.2d at 568.

Trial counsel is presumed to have acted competently. Arnette v. State,

- 938 P.2d 1079 (Alaska App. 1997). The presumption of competence is strong and it is

presumed that counsel’s actions were motivated by sound tactical considerations.
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Jones, 759 P.2d at 568 -569. The defendant bears the burden of rebutting the
presumption of competence. As the Court of Appeals has observed, “[w]e have
repeatedly held that a defendant asserting ineffective assistance of counsel must provide
the court with an affidavit from the former attorney, addressing the various claims of
ineffective representation, or must explain why such an affidavit can not be obtained.”

Peterson v. State, 988 P.2d 109, 113 (Alaska App. 1999)(citations omitted).

Haeg’s real complaint in this case is with the law as it was applied to him.
Haeg does not believe that the law allowed for him to be convicted under the guide
statutes due to the fact that he was not guiding at the time of his offense. The Court of
Appeals, however, soundly rejected this claim. See Exh. A, p. 6. Moreover, Haeg
Haeg fails to account for the fact that he took the stand and admitted to killing all of the
wolves outside of the predator control zone. This admission on the stand by itself is
sufficient to uphold Haeg’s conviction and deny this application. Consequently, Haeg
1S unable to rebut the presumption of competence attached to counsels’ representations.
Therefore, his application is fatally flawed and should be dismissed. Lott v. State, 836
P.2d 371 (Alaska App. 1992).

In addition, decisions of trial counsel are not to be the subject of “second
guessing” in a post conviction relief matter. Risher, 523 P.2d at 424. The decisions are

to be judged at the time they were made, not in hindsight. 1d.; Brown v. State, 602 P.2d

221 (Alaska 1979). It is not enough to have a better idea than trial counsel. Tucker,

that his trial counsel could have done things better, but that no competent attorney
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would have done things as badly as his trial counsel did. Id. Lven if trial counsel’s
actions in retrospect seem (o be mistaken or unproductive, they are virtually immune
from subsequent challenge it they were minimally competent. 1d.

Under the circumstances of this case, the court will see that counsels for
Haeg provided effective competent representation. Attorney Brent Cole negotiated a
tar beller resolution to Haeg's case than was ultimately imposcd al sentencing
tollowing trial. Robinson also was successful in getting at least two counts dismissed.

See Exh. A, p. 4. That another counsel can postulate a different strategy with hindsight

( does not amount to meffective assistance of counsel. lucker. 832 P.2d at 835,

I. Application Deficient - No Affidavits Of “Ineffective” Counsel
Responding To Allegations In The Petition

In evaluating a trial or appellate counsel’s conduct, the court is to apply a
strong presumption of competence and presume that counsel’s actions were motivated
by sound tactical decisions.’ If a counsel’s actions were taken for tactical or strategic
rcasons, “they will be virtually ymmune from subsequent challenge. even if, in
hindsight, the tactic or sirategy appears to be mistaken or unproductive.” If an
application for post-conviction relief fails to allege tacts ruling out the possibility of a
sound tactical choice, the applicavion fails to make a prima facie case.”

The Court of Appeals of Alaska has repeatedly and consistently stated:

' Santillana v. State, 2002 W1, 24486, *} (Aluska App. 2002)
! 1d.(citing State v. Jones, 759 P.2d 558, 568 {Alaska App. 1988).
3 M

-4
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|An allidavit from the attorney in the underlying criminal

casc 1s an cssential component of a prima facie case for
post-conviction relief that alleges ineffective assistance of

counscl. Without the required affidavit {or an explanation

of why an atfidavit cannot be obtained), the superior court

may dismiss the application for [ailing to plead a prima facie

case.’

Haeg failed to file any affidavit of any ol the counsel supporting his
| allegatons that any/or all were ineffective. Rather, [Taeg’s affidavit merely states that he
has no affidavits as the attorneys refused to provide them when asked. The affidavits
: provided do not aid Haeg in establishing his prima facie case of ineffective assistance of
:; counscl. Consequently, this court should [irst order Haeg 1o specifically allege the acts
of incflective assistance by cach trial attorney and his appellate attorney and then order

'\ cach trial attorncy and Haeg’s appellate counsel to file an affidavit in this matter similar

to that in Jones.’

1. Haeg Failed To Cite To The Record In Support Of His Allegations Of
Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

ITaeg fails to cite specifically to the instances which he believes resulted
in ineffective assistance ol counsel, bul rather leaves this Court and the State guessing at
what it any of the allegations in Part B, section 2 apply to his claims. Haeg sets forth 37
paragraphs ol alleged violations that support his grounds lor reliefl. Withourt citations to

which ones actually support his claim for ineffective assistance of counsel. the State and

* Puisis v. State, 2003 WL 22800620 (Alaska App. 2003); Sce also Tall v. State, 25 P.3d 704, 708 (Alaska App.

i App. 2000); Peterson v. State, 988 P.2d 109, 114 (Alaska App. 1999):

1
A
1
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this Court are Icft 1o merely guess which paragraphs apply to which claims. Without
more precise pleadings, lHaeg's application for post conviction relief must be

dismissed.®

11 Haeg’s Allegations Of Ineffective Assistance of Counsel, Even If
Accepted On The Limited Information Provided In The Pleadings,
Are Taclical Decisions By Counsel And Not Subject To Claims Of
Incffective Assistance.

None of the claims of ineflective assistance of counsel allege any actions
by trial counsel or appellate counscl that were not lactical decisions. Haeg appears to
takes issue with Cole’s decisions and trial strategy as set forth in paragraph G, {1 M., T,
and V. Haeg next appears to argue that Robinson’s was ineffective in paragraph’s W,
Y, CC, LI, FF, GG, HH, 11, KK, LL, MM, and NN, QQ. Haeg’s argument appears to
be that by not pursuing cvery non-frivolous’ motion. argument or appellate issue. his

trial counscl was incffective.

This type of argument was squarely rejected in Steffensen v. State.® In

Steffenscn, the court cited to State v. Jones and United States v. DeCoster to reiterate

the responsibilitics of counsel to pursuc various claims:

Given an unrestricted budget and freed of any constraints as
to probable materiality or accountability, a lawyer might
cheerfully log in many hours looking for the legal cquivalent

* State v. Jones, 759 P.2d ai 570 (noting that the trial court ordered trial counsel to file affidavits in the PCR
matter),

" The state does not concede Lhat any of the objections Iaeg wanted his trial counsel or appellate counsel to make
were not frivelous. Based on the limited amount of information about the types of motions alluded to 1 the
petition, the State belicves that these motions would have been frivolous.

¥ 837 P.2d 1123, 1126 (Alaska App. 1992},
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of a ncedle in a haystack. A millionaire might retain
counsel to leave not a single stonc unturncd. However, a
defendant is not entitled to perfection but to basic fairness.
In the real world, cxpenditure of time and cffort is
dependent on a reasonable indication of materiality.’

Haeg would likc to be able to try his case several times o see which

. tactics work best. Haeg is not entitled to such an indulgence. This  Court should

dismiss Haeg’s ineffective assistance claim because his counsels™ tactical decisions
. " . T < ol

cannot be grounds for a petition for post conviction relief.

[Tacg’s claims of incffective assistance with respect 1o tactical decisions

have been found to be insufficient to make a prima facie case of post conviction relict in

Valcarcel v. State.!' 'I'here, the Court of Appeals pointed out that “the decisions on

what wilnesses to call, whether and how to conduct cross-examination, what jurors to
accept or strike, what trial motions should be made, and all other strategic and tactical
decisions are the exclusive province of the lawyer after consultation with the client.”
These decisions are not one of the four fundamental decisions that are ultimately up to

the client.'?

V. Ineffective Assistance of Appellate Attorney Qsterman

Haeg alleges his appellate attorney was ineffective because Osterman

refused to allow Haeg to assist in writing the appeal and allegedly Osterman’s fee

9
E’
' See also Henry v. State, 1998 WL 820226, *2 (Alaska App. 1998).
12003 WL 22351613 (Alaska App. 2003)
12
Id.
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structure changed. Haeg docs not allege how any of Osterman’s alleged acts impacted
his appeal given that he was allowed to represent himself and given all the time he
needed to f{ile his appeal. Tlaeg again fails to cstablish a prima facie case that his

appellate attorney acted incompetently.

V. Haeg Fails to Allege Specificallv how his Convicticn and Sentence
’ Resulted in a Violation of U.S. and State Constitutions

Haeg’s petition is governed by Criminal Rule 35.7 and AS 12.72.010-040.
- Pursuant to AS 12.72.040, Haeg has the burden to prove all tactual asscrtions by clear
and convincing cvidence. Haeg olfered nothing to support the claim in his petition that
his conviction and sentence violated the U.S. and State constitutions. In fact, Haeg's
claims of sentlencing errors or constilutional violations were repeatedly rejected by the
-~ Court of Appeals. Sce Exh. A. For example, the Court of Appeals specifically rejected
Haeg's claim that the State’s amended information was only possible duc lo staicments
he made during settlement negotiations. Rather, the Court of Appeals held that there
' was sufficient probable cause for the charges withoul Haeg's statements. Sec Exh. A, p.
6.

[Taeg’s pleadings fail to specify exactly how he believes his conviction
. and/or sentence resulted in a violation of the U.S. or State Constitutions. This failure on
Haeg’s part leaves the State guessing, like it did above, al what exactly is his alleged

violation. At a minimum, this Court should order Hacg to be more specilic in his
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allegations so that the Statc is not forced to speculate with respect to how Haeg’s

constitutional rights were allegedly violated.

VI Haeg’s Final Claim is that Evidence Exists Which Requires Vacating
His Sentence in the Interest of Justice

In an application for post conviction reliel. an applicant asserting newly

discovered evidence must establish the same facts as a defendant moving for a new trial

under Criminal Rule 33. Lewis v, State, 901 P.2d 448 (Alaska App. 1995).

Under Criminal Rule 33, the defendant must ¢stablish that the evidence is
i newly discovered, cstablish facts demonstrating diligence in pursuing the evidence and
claim, establish that the evidence is not merely cumulative or impeaching. establish that
the newly discovered evidence is material and establish that the newly discovered

. evidence would probably produce an acquittal. State v. Salinas, 362 P.2d 298 (Alaska

1961); Rank v, State, 382 P.2d 760 (Alaska 1963). Charles_v. State. 780 P.2d 377
| (Alaska App. 1989).

Haeg advances nothing that begins to suggest he is entitled to reliet under
this standard. In fact, the State has no idea what “new cvidence™ Haeg is referring Lo
and thus once again is put in the unenviable position of merely guessing what acg is
referring to in his pleadings. That being said, there 1s nothing in ITacg’s pleadings that
comes close to newly discovered evidence justifying a new trial or negating the
. lestimony of ITacg himseif’ who admitted killing all of the wolves outside of the

predatory control permit arca. See Exh. A, p. 6.
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Delendant’s  application for a new trial is also barred by AS
12.72.020(1)(2) and (5). AS 12.72.020(1) bars claims bascd on the admission or
cxclusion of evidence at frial. Hacg is asserling that evidence of material tact exists
which was not previously presented which justifies vacating his sentence. Therefore.
his claim is barred.

Further, AS 12.72.020(2) prohibits claims for relief if’ “the claim was or
could have been but was not, raised in a dircctl appeal from the proceeding that resulted
in the conviction”. The Coun of Appeals addressed all of Hacg’s claims with the

exception of his claim for incffective assistance of counsel. For example. the Court of

Appeals denied Haeg’s claim related to the alleged perjury of Trooper Gibbens in his

© search warrant affidavit or that Trooper Gibbens committed perjury at trial. See Exh. A,

pp. 4-6. The Court of Appeals decided the issue on its merits and upheld the trial
court’s ruling with respect to every aspect of Haeg's case.” Thus, Hacg is barred and
estopped from re-raising these claims as a basis [or post conviction relief. Thus. ITaeg’s

application should be summarily dismissed.

VII. The Specific Facts Alleged in Support of Haeg’s Claim For Rcelief
Were Previously Addressed by The Court of Appeals

[aeg’s PCR application contains 57 paragraphs of information that
allegedly support onc of the three alleged grounds of relief. Most of thesce issues were

previously raised during Haceg's appeal and rejected by the Court of Appeals which

- 10 -
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again makes it impossible to {igurc out what specific factual allegations support Ilaeg’s
claim for post conviction relict.

1. Paragraphs B-D and BB allege that the State falsified the wolf kill
cvidence and locations. The Court of Appeals deall with this issue
repeatedly. See Exh. A, pp. 4-6 and 9.

2. Paragraphs E-F and KK allege that the State failed to tell Haeg he
could bond out his planc or to give him a hearing within days if not
hours. The Court of Appeals addressed this issue exactly on point.
Sec Exh. A, pp. 1G-13,

3. Paragraphs H-K, N, Q, R-S. U-V, X. AA, DD and YY all deal with
stalements made by Zellars and Haeg in relation lo plea
agreements.  The Courl of Appeals dealt with this issue in detail
and ruled that Haeg failed to show that plain crror occurred and
that the State did not offer Haeg’s pretrial statement during its case-
in-chief or during its rebuttal case. Additionally, the Court of
Appeals noted that Zcllers testified for the State and that his
testimony along with that of Trooper Gibbens was sufficient to
convict Haeg. See Exh. A, p. 6.

4. Paragraph 7. deals with a combination ol Ilacg’s claim that the

State falsified the locations of the wolf kills and that he could not

" The only modification by the Cowrt of Appeals with respect to Haeg’s sentence was (o direct the trial court to
change the judgment to reflect that Hacg’s Big Game Guide's License was suspended for five years as opposed to
revoked for five years. Seg Exh. A, pp. 9-10.

~17 -
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be prosecuted for guiding violations. Again, the Court of Appcals
ruled against Hacg on both of these issues during his underlying

criminal appeal. See I'xh. A, pp. 4-6.

LA

Paragraph IJ deals with Haeg’s claim that the State falsely argued
that Haeg was killing wolves with the intent to climinate them
within his guide use arca. The Court of Appeals specifically found
that there was sufficient evidence to support this proposition. See
Exh. A, p.9.

With the above issues and/or allegations eliminated [rom consideralion in

ITacg’s application, there s nothing lefl for consideration other than Haeg’s displeasure

. with the tactical decisions of his counsel and his disagreement with how the Court of

. Appeals allowed him to be convicted under the guiding statutes when he was not in fact

guiding. Tor these reasons, Haeg's application should be dismissed.

CONCLUSION

Haeg’s Petition for Post-Conviction Relicf should be dismissed. Hacg's
application should be dismissed because he failed to plead and prove a primy facie casc
- he has not submitted affidavits from his trial or appellate counsel; he failed to
demonstrate that cither his trial or appellate counscl were incffective; he failed to cite to
the record to support his allcgations; his claims of incifective assistance challenge
tactical decisions madc by his attorneys are not subject to ineffective assistance claims:

he presents claims that have not been and cannot be supported by any available

-12-
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evidence; he presents claims that were already addressed by the Court of Appeal and he
produccd no new evidence which would allow for & new trial. Additionally, Haeg
testified at trial that all of the wolves were killed outside of the predator control
" boundary.
Lastly, it is impossible to discern from the pleadings what information
supports which of Haeg's claims. Mast of the specific facts offered by Hacg have
already been addressed by the Court of Appeals and the remainder is completely
;; insulficient to meet his burden of establishing a prima facie claim justifving this court
" not dismissing his application.

o
DATED at Anchorage, Alaska thiszz day of February 2010,

DANIEL S. SULLIVAN
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Andrew PC'I‘IS(-J\I’I
Assistant Attorncy General
ABA #0601002
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MOnly the Westlaw citation is currently available,
NOTICH: UNPUBLISHED (GPINION

NOTICEMemorandum decisions of this court do nol
create legal precedent. See Alaska Appellate Rule
214(d} and Paragraph 7 of the Guidclines for Publica-
tion of Court of Appeals Decisions (Court of Appcals
Order No. 3). Accordingly, this memorandum deci-
sion may not be cited as binding precedent lor any
proposition of law.,

Court of Appeals of Alaska.
David S. HALG, Appellant,
v,

STATE of Alaska, Appellee.
No. A-9455/10045.

Sept. 10, 2008.
Rehearing Denied Sept. 26, 2008,

Appeal from the District Court, Fourth Judicial I3is-
trict, McGrath, Marearel L Murphy, Judge, and
David Woodmancy, Magistrate.

David Hacg, pro se, Soldotna

A, Andrew _Peterson, Assistant Attomey General,
Office of Special Prosecutions and Appeals, Anchor-
age, and Talis J. Colberg, Attorney General, Juneau,
for the Appellee.

Belore: COA LS, Chief Judge, and MANNHEIMER

MEMORANDUM OFPINION AND JUDGMENT
COATS, Chief Judge.

*1 David &. [aeg was convicted of five counts of
unfawlul acts by a guide: hunting wolves same day
airborne: ' two counts of unlawful possession ol
. Inz - e i H . [in3
game; = one count of unsworn falsification; and
one couni of trapping wolverine in a closed sea-
son Haeg appeals these convictions in Case No,
A-9455

£ 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US (ov, Works.

Page 1

FNL. AS 8.54.720(a)(15) & 5 AAC
92.085(8).

FN2.S AAC 92.140(a).

FN3AS 11562 0 a)2).

FN4.5 AAC 84270014},

While this appeal was pending, Haeg asked the dis-
trict couwrt 1o suppress the cvidence used durimg his
trial that the State had seized Irom him during its
criminal investigation and to have the property re-
turned to him. The district courl denied the motion,
and Haeg appeals this decision in Case No. A-10015.

In Case No. A-9455, Hacg primarily argues that the
State used perjured tlestimony 10 oblam search war-
rants and that he should not have been charged as a
cuide for hunting wolves same day airborne-first.
because he was not guiding at the tune, and second,
because he was not hunting atl the time. He also ar-
gues thal the prosecutor vielated Afaska Evidence
Rule 410 by using statements that Hacg made during
the partics’ failed plea negotiations, And he asserts
that his attorneys provided ineffcetive assistance of
counsel.

In addition, Haeg claims that the district court cont-
mitted various crrors during the course of the pro-
ceedings. In particular, he contends that the district
court {1} {ailed 1o 1nquire inlo the failed plea negotia-
tions. (2) falled to rule on a motion protestng the
Stalc's use of Haeg's statement made during plea
negotiations as the basis for the charges, (3) made
prejudicial rulings concerning Haeg's defense that he
was nol “hunting,” (4) failed to instruct the jury that
Haeg's co-defendant, Tony Zellers, was required by
his plea agreement to testify against Haeg, {3) un-
fairly requured Haeg to abide by a term of the failed
plea agreement, (6) failed to force his (irst attorney lo
appear at Iaeg's senlencing proceeding, and (7)
when Imposing sentence, erroneously identified the
location where the majority of the wolves were taken.
Inn a separate cluim, he contends that the district court
erred by revoking his guide license instead of sus-
pending it.

Page __\____Of

Eh. A

EXHIBIT ____u%,__,_,_,_‘,_.._f
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In Case No. A-100135, Haeg asserts that the district
court erred when it denied his post-conviction motion
to suppress the cvidence that the State had seized
from him during its criminal investigation and Lo re-
tum the property to him. He also contends that AS
12,35.020, AS 1235025, AS 16.05.190, and AS
1605195 (criminal seizure and forfeitwre statutes)
are unconstitutional because these statutes do not
require the government to inform defendants in a
criminal casc that they have the right to contest the
seizure of their property,

For the reasons cxplained here, we affirm ITaeg’s
convictions, But we conclude thar the district court
mweant 1o suspend rather than to revoke his guide li-
cense. [herefore we direct the district court to modify
[Taeg’s judgment to retlect that Hacg's suide license
was suspended for five vears,

Facts and proceedings

*2 Haeg was a licensed master big game gutde oper-
ating 1n game management unit 19, In early March
2004, he and Zellers reccived permits allowing them
to participate in a predator control program near
MeGrath.

‘The predator control program applied to wolves in
game management unit 1913-Last, which was located
inside unit 19D, Within unit 19D-East, participants in
the program were allowed to kill wolves by shooting
them from an airborne aircraft or by landing the air-
craft, exiting it. and immediately shooting them. ™2
The purpese of the program was to increase the num-
bers of moose in unit 19D-Fast by decreasing the
number of wolves preying on them. In March 2004,
unit 19D-East was the only unit where this Lype of
predator control was permitted.

FN5.Sees AAC 92.039(h)(1), (3).

To help the Department of Fish and Game monilor
the progress of the predator control program, the par-
ticipants were required (o separately identify and seal
the hides of all wolves taken under the program and
to report the locations where the wolves were killed.
Alaska State Trooper Brett Gibbens. among others,
was notified whenever wolves were laken under the
program. One of his duties was to verify the locations

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.

Page 2

where the wolves were reportedly killed.

Soon after Hacg and Zellers received their permit.
they reported that on March 6, 2004, they had taken
three gray wolves in the arca of [Lone Mountain near
the Big River. When Gibbens was notified of this
report, he suspected that the information was Inaccu-
rate. The coordinates that Haeg and Zellers gave
placed the kill site just within unit 19D-East. But
Gibbens knew that the wolves in the pack then fre-
quenting that area were predominately black, with
only two that might be considered aray.

On March 11, 2004, Gibbens inspected the reported
kill site. He found wolf wacks but no kill site near the
reported location. In addition to this discrepancy,
Gibbens recalled that on the day of the reported kills,
when he was off-duty, he had seen Haeg's distinctive
airplane. The airplane was a4 mile or two outside of
unit 19D-East and was {lving away from that unit. To
Gibbens, it appearcd that the pilot was following a
fresh wolf track.

On March 21, Gibbens met and spoke to Haeg and
Zellers when they returned to MeGrath to seal the
three wolf hides. While Tlacg refueled his airmplane,
Gibbens and Hacg talked about the airplane's skis and
its oversized tail wheel. Gibbens noticed that the air-
plane's skis and 1ts oversized tail wheel would jeave a
distinctive track when it landed in snow. Gibbens and
Zellers discussed the weapons and the shotgun am-
munition that Zellers was using (o shoot the wolves,
This ammunition was a relatively pew variety of
buckshot. During this mecting, Haeg said that he
knew the boundaries of the arca where he was al-
lowed to take wolves under the predator control pro-
cram.

On March 26, while flying his airplane, Gibbens
spotted wolf tracks from a large pack of wolves on
the Swift River. He also saw where another airplane
had landed to cxamine the track and determine the
wolves” direction of travel. Because his airplane was
low on fucl, Gibbens continued home. The next day,
he returned to investigate. From the air. he conflirmed
that the area was not a trap site or kill site. He then
followed the wolf tracks up the Swilt River and
found where wolves had killed a moose on an island
in the river. The island was covered with heavy brush
and had numerous wolf trails, Gibbens saw that
someone had sct snares and leg traps on the island.
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*3 Gibbens followed the wolf tracks further upriver.
About a half mile away from the moose kill, he saw
where a wolf had been killed. It looked like the wolf
had been shot from the air, and there was a set of
airplane tracks that had taxied over the wolf kill site.
He continued 1o follow the wolf tracks up the Swift
River and {ound three more places where wolves had
been shot from the air. He saw evidence that the wolf
carcasses had been picked up and placed in an air-
plane, and he saw a staging areg nearby where the
airplane had landed several times.

These kill sites were all about forty 10 Gfty-five miles
from the nearest boundary of unit 19D-Cast. There
was no evidence near these siles of snaring or trap-
ping, nor of any ground transportation like a snow
machine. Rather, the evidence indicated that an air-
plane had landed near the kill sites and that someone
had gotten out of the airplane, approached the wolf
carcasses, and hauled them back to the airplane. The
airplane tracks at the kill sites and at the staging arca
appeared 10 be the same. Gibbens recognized that
they were similar to Hacg's airplane's distinctive ski
and tail wheel amangement.

With the help of other troopers, Gibbens more thor-
oughly investigated the kill sites. The troopers found
shotgun pellets that were consistent with the type of
buckshot Haeg and Zellers were using. They also
found a spemt 223 cartridge stamped with “.223
Rem-Wolf ™ At the staging area, they tound where a
carcass had been placed in the snow.

After finding this evidence, Gibbens applied for and
obtained a search warrant for Faeg's airplane and for
his lodge at Trophy Lake. The lodge was listed as
Haeg's base of operations for the predator control
program and was not far away. The lodge was lo-
cated in unit 19C.

At the lodge, the troopers found wolf carcasses, evi-
dence that the wolves had been recently skinned, and
rifle magaczines loaded with ammunition stamped
with =223 Rem-Wolf” Gibbens also saw airplane ski
tracks leading up to the front of the lodge that
matched the tracks from the kil sites and the staging
area. Troopers scized six carcasses from the lodge.
Gibbens later performed a necropsy on each carcass,
I'he necropsies indicated that all six wolves had been
shot from the air with a shotzun.
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Other evidence found during the scarch indicated that
the leg traps set around the moose kill on the Swift
River istand belonged to Ilaeg. On April 2, Gibbens
found thal six of those leg waps were still set and
catching game even though leg trap season for
wolves and wolverines had ended. He also saw that
wo wolverines were caught in nearby snares. The
season for taking wolverines with traps or snares had
ended March 31.

Based on the evidence found during the scarch of the
lodge, additional scarch warrants were issued, includ-
ing one for Hacg's residence in Seldotna. While
scarching Hacg's residence. troopers scized a 12
gauge shotgun and a 223 caliber rifle along with
magazines, spent casings. and amununition. The 223
ammunition seized was stamped with <223 Rem-
Wolt.” The troopers also seized [laeg's airplane.

*4 Evidence scized at the residence indicated that the
snares set around the mwoose kill on the Swilt River
belonged 1o Hacg. Gibbens later went back to the
Swift River moose kill site atter the snare season for
wolf ended and found that the snares were still active
and carching game. The remains of two wolves were
in these snares.

Later, exceuting one of the search warrants obtained
after searching Hueg's residence, troopers seized nine
woll hides from a business in Anchorage. These
hides had been dropped off by Zellers. Eight of the
nine hides clearly showed that the wolves had been
shot with a shotgun. Of these eight hides, many had
damage indicating that the wolves had been shot
from the air But despite this cvidence, only three of
the hides had bheen scaled under the predator control
program, According to the sealing cerlificates-and
despite evidence to the contrary-Haeg and Zellers
claimed that the remaining six hides had not been
shot from an airplane. Rather, when sealing these six
hides. Haeg and Zellers reported that they had killed
the wolves in unit 16B by shooting them f{rom the
ground and transporting them with snowmobiles,

After completing this investication, Gibbens con-
cluded that the nine wolves had been shot from an
airplane. that none had been taken in unit 19D-Fast,
that the sealing certificates had been falsified, and
that Haeg and Zellers had unlawfully possessed the
hides. He also concluded thar the relevant leg traps
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and the snares belonged to Haeg and that they were
stifl actively catching game after the relevant leg rap
and the snarc seasons had closed.

Sometime after Gibbens completed his investigation,
the State entered separate plea negotiations with
Hacg and Zellers. The negotiations with Hacg broke
down, but the State rcached a plea agreenicat with
Zellers. Among other things, Zellers was required to
enter a ples for two consolidated counis of violating
AS 8.54.720(a}8)(A), uniawful acts by a guide. e
was also required to testify ugainst Haeg.

In April 2005, Hacg moved to dismiss the informa-
tion. Among other things, he argued that the State
could not charge him for hunting wolves same day
airborne because his predator control permit allowed
him to do so, even il only in unit 19D-East. [n & writ-
ten decision. District Court Judge Margaret 1. Mur-
phy rejected Haeg's arguments and demied the mo-
ton.

A jury trial began July 26, 2005, with Judge Murphy
presiding. Among others, Gibbens, Zellers, and Hacg
westified. The gist of Gibbens's testimony is scl out in
the preceding paragraphs. This testimony was cor-
roborated not only by Zeliers. but by Haeg himself.

Haeg testified that he was a licensed guide. He con-
ceded that he and Zellers knew (or, in one instance,
should have known) that they were taking the wolves
outside of unit 19D-East, that they had intentionally
falsified the sealing certificates for all nine wolves.
and that they had possessed the wolves and hides
illegally. e also admitted that he was responsible for
the leg traps that were still catching game after the
leg trap season had closed.

*5 But in hs defense against the hunting charges,
Haeg testified that he was not unlawfully “hunting”
the wolves, but was only violating his predator con-
trol permit. Haeg denicd responsibility for sparing
wolves out of scason and explained that the snares
had been turned over to another trapper who was
supposed to close thenm out when the scason ended.

The jury found Haeg guilty of all five counts of
unlawful acts by a guide: hunting wolves same day
girborne: two counts of uniawful possession of game;
one count of unswomn falsification; and of one counl
of trapping wolverines in a closed season, The jury

Page 4

found Haeg not gwilty of one count of snaring wolves
o

. H1 o
in a closed season = and of failure to salvage

AL senlencing. Judge Murphy ordered Haeg to forfort
the nine wolf hides, a wolvering hide, the auplane,
and the guns and ammunition used to take the
wolves. She also revoked Haeg's guiding license for
five years. This appeal followed.

While this appcal wus pending, llaeg filed a motion
requesting this court to order the State to retum to
him the propenty that bhad been seized during the
criminal investigation. We remanded the case for the
limited purpose of allowing the district court to re-
solve Haceg's motion. Relying on Cruminal Rule 37,
Hacg asked the district court to suppress the ¢vidence
seized during the investigation and to return the
property to him. Magistrate David Woodmaney de-
nied Haeg's motion. Haeg appeals this decision.

Another of Taeg's motions asks this court to modily
part of his sentence. Haeg asserts that Judge Murphy
crred when she revoked his guide license instead of
suspending it.

Discussion
Huaep's appeal in Na. 4-9433
Haeg's claing that the State used peyjured festimony

Haeg contends that Trooper Gibbens intentionally
made false statements in his search warrant affidavil.
In particular, Haeg claims that Gibbens lied when he
said in his affidavit that he found evidence in unit
19C that Haeg had taken wolves, But Haeg did not
challenge the search warrant affidavit prior lo trial.
Because of this, his claim is lorfeited ™ And, under
Moregr v, Stare' ™ he is barred from bringing this
claim on appeal, even as a matter of plain error. ™'t

ENg.Seedlasha R Com P 13(h) and Le).

29588 P.2d 275 (Alaska 1978).
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FN10./d. at 279-80.

In Morequ, the Alaska Supreme Court acknowledged
that it was “clear that a false affidavit in support of a
search warrant can, in appropriate circumstances,
nullify the warrant.” ™ But the court went on to
rule that “[wlhile we do not state that search and sei-
zure issues are incapable of plain error analysis, we
believe that the exclusionary rule which requires the
suppression of illegally obtained evidence is usually
not appropriately raised for the first time on appeal.”
N2 The court explained that the exclusionary rule “is
a prophylactic device to curb improper police con-
duct and to protect the integrity of the judicial proc-
ess. Thus, justice does not generally require that it be
agplied on appeal where i is not urged at trial [.]”
B In light of Moreau, Haeg cannot pursue this
claim, 4

FN11.Jd at 279.

FNL2./d at 280 (footnote omitted).

2

13.1d.

Why we conclude that Haeg could be convicted of
unlawful acts by a guide: hunting wolves same day
airborne

*6 In a related argument, Haeg contends that it was
Gibbens's perjured affidavit that allowed the State to
charge Haeg with unlawful acts as a guide. In Haeg's
view, had Gibbens's affidavit stated that the wolves
were killed in unit 19D, instead of unit 19C, then the
State could only charge him with viclating his preda-
tor control permit.

But Haeg misrepresents what his permit allowed. The
record shows that Haeg was permitted to take woelves
same day airborne only in unit 19D-East. He had no
authority to take the wolves same day airbome in any
other part of unit 19D. Gibbens's affidavit states that
the four kill sites he found were well outside of unit
19D-East, the only area where Haeg and Zellers were
permitted to take wolves same day airborne. In addi-
tion, Haeg acknowledged at his trial that he and
Zellers killed all nine wolves outside of the permitted
area. In short, the information in the affidavit did not
result in Haeg being wrongly charged.

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim te Crig, US Gov. Works.
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Haeg further contends that even if he did kill wolves
beyond the authority granted by his predator control
permit, he was not engaged in the “hunting” of
wolves-and, thus, he did not violate any statute or
regulation that prohibits same-day airbome hunting.

This argument is mistaken. Under the definition codi-
fied in AS 16.05.940(21), the term “hunting” is not
confined to the killing of animals for food or sport.
Rather, “hunting” is defined as “[any] taking of game
under AS 16.05-AS 16.40 and the regulations
adepted under those chapters [of the Alaska Stat-
utes].” The term “taking of game” includes more than
simply the killing of game. As defined in AS
16.G5.940(34), “take” means the “taking, pursuing,
hunting, ... distwbing, capturing, or killing [of]
game,” as well as any attempt to engage in these acts,

The predator control program that Haeg participated
in was established under 5 AAC 92.110-125; these
regulations were adopted by the Board of Game un-
der Title 16, Chapter 5. Thus, Haeg's chasing and
killing of wolves under this predator control program
constituted “hunting” under Alaska law. And because
Haeg's acts of chasing and killing wolves were not
authorized under the terms of his predator control
permit, these acts constituted unlawful hunting. Un-
der Alaska law (specifically, AS 16.05.920(a)), af/
taking of game is unlawful unless it is permitted by
AS 16.05-AS 1640, AS 41.14, or a regulation
adopted under those chapters of the Alaska Stat-
utes L

FN14.See State v. Eluska_724 P.2d 514,513
(Alaska 1986); Jones v. State, 936 P.2d

1263, 1266 {Alaska App.1997).

For these reasons, Haeg could lawfully be convicted
of violating AS 08.54.720{a) 15}, the statute that
makes it a crime for a licensed guide to knowingly
violate a statute or regulation that prohibits same-day
airborne hunting.

We understand that Haeg was not gniding when he
and Zellers were taking the wolves. But this does not
matter. Alaska Statute 08.54.720(a)(15)} does not
make it a crime to knowingly viclate a statute or
regulation prohibiting same day airbome while guid-
ing. Rather, that statute makes it a crime for any per-
son licensed to guide to knowingly violate a statute or
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regulation prohibiting same-day airborne hunting,

*7 Haeg suggests that he was convicted of the hunt-
ing offenses because Gibbens lied when he testified
that some wolves were killed in unit 19C. But Gib-
bens retracted this testimony during cross examina-
tion, clarifying that the wolves were killed in unit
19D but not in unit {9D-East. As already noted,
Haeg admitted that none of the wolves was killed in
unit 19D-East,

Haeg also asserts that Gibbens lied by testifying at
sentencing that he did not know why Haeg had not
guided for an entire year. Haeg argues that this al-
leged testimony was perjury because Gibbens-
according to Haeg-was aware that part of the failed
plea agreement required Haeg to give up guiding for
a year. But because Haeg did not litigate the terms of
the failed plea agreemént in the district court, there
are no factual findings supporting Haeg's claim. Fur-
thermore, Haeg had the opportunity to refute any
testimony Gibbens gave during the sentencing pro-
ceedings, and it was up to Judge Murphy to deter-
mine whether Gibbens was credible.

Haeg's claim that the prosecutor violated Evidence
Rule 410

Haeg claims that the State violated Evidence Ruie
410 by using a statement he made during failed plea
negotiations to charge him with crimes more serious
than he had initially faced. But Haeg did not litigate
this issue in the district court. Because he did not
preserve this claim of error below, Haeg now has to
show plain error M As we have explained in the
past, “[o]ne of the components of plain error is proof
that the asserted error manifestly prejudiced the de-
fendant,” ENIS

ENI5.See Wettanen v. Cowper, 749 P.2d
362, 364 (Alaska 1988) {issues and argu-
ments not raised below are considered
waived on appeal absent plain error); see
also John v. State, 35 P.3d 53, 63 (Alaska
App.2001) (where record reflected no lower
court ruling on appellant's Evidence Rule
410 claim, appeliate court declined to ad-
dress it).

FN16.Baker v. Stare, 22 P.3d 493, 501
(Alaska App.2001Y; see also Cruichfield v.
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State, 627 P.2d 196, 198 (Alaska 1980)
(“[Aln alleged error is reviewable as plain
error only if it raises a substantial and im-
portant question and is obvicusly prejudi-
cial.”),

In this case, the State filed an initial information and
then amended it twice. Each version of the informa-
tion was supported by a probable cause statement that
set out Gibbens's investigation and a summation of
the statements made by Haeg and Zellers. Thus, even
had Haeg's statements been removed from the charg-
ing document, the remaining evidence from Gibbens
and Zellers would still support the charges against
Haeg ™™ And even though the State initially charged
Haeg with less serious charges, the State had the dis-
cretion to file more serious charges. ™% In other
words, even if the State had not used his statement's
to support the information, Haeg would still have
faced charges that he committed unlawful acts by a
guide, hunting same day airbome. Because Haeg has
not shown that the error he asserts manifestly preju-
diced him, he has not shown that plain error occurred.

EN17.Cf State v. McDongid 872 P.2d 627,
638 {Alaska App.1994) (If inadmissible evi-
dence is presented to a grand jury, “the in-
dictment will be vitiated only “if the remain-
ing evidence was insufficient to support
fthe] indictment or the improper evidence
was likely to have had an overriding influ-
ence on the grand jury's decision.’ * (quot-
ing Boggess v. State_ 783 P.2d 1173, 1176
(Alaska App.1989) (alteration in McDonald
)

FN18.See State v. District Counrt, 53 P.3d
629, 633 (Alaska App.2002) (The State
“{has] the discretion to decide whether to
bring charges against a person whe has bro-
ken the law and, if so, to decide what those
charges will be.”).

Haeg also suggests that the State used his interview
to convict him. But Haeg did not raise this issue at
trial, nor does the record support this conclusion. The
record shows that the State did not offer Haeg's pre-
trial statement during its case-in-chief or during its
rebuttal case. In addition, Zellers testified for the
State and his testimony, along with Gibbens's, was

sufficient to suppert Haeg's convictions. Finally, ﬁ
EXHIBIT
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his own testimony, Haeg admitted that he had com-
mitted all but two of the charged offenses {and he
was acquitted of those two). As we explained earlier
in this decision, Haeg testified that he was a licensed
guide, that he had taken the wolves same day air-
bome, that he knew that he was acting outside the
predator control program area, that he and Zellers had
falsified the sealing certificates, that they had unlaw-
fully possessed game, and that his leg traps were still
catching game afier the season had closed. Haeg has
not shown that plain erTor occurred.

Haeg's claim that his attorneys were ineffective

*8 Haeg claims that his attorneys provided ineffec-
tive assistance of counsel. We have consistently held
that we will not consider claims of ineffective assis-
tance for the first time -on appeal because, in most
instances, the appellate’record is inadequate to allow
us to meaningfully assess the competence of the at-
torney's efforts. ™ Haeg's case is typical-that is, the
appellate record is inadequate to allow us to mean-
ingfully assess the competence of Haeg's attorneys'
efforts. Haeg's claim of ineffective assistance must be
raised in the trial court in an application for post-
conviction relief under Alaska Criminal Rule 35,1,

IEN19.See Tazruk v. State, 67 P.3d 687, 688
(Alaska App.2003); Hufchings v. State, 53
P.3d 1132, 1135 (Alaska App.2002Y, Sharp
v. State, 837 P.2d 718, 722 (Alaska
App.1992); Barry v. State, 675 P.2d 1292,
1295-96 (Alaska App.1984).

Haeg's claim that the district court erred by fuiling to
inguire about plea negotiations

Haeg argues that Judge Murphy should have asked
the parties about the failed plea negotiations. If Haeg
believed that he had an enforceable plea agreement
with the State, he was entitled to ask the district court
to enforce it. ™ But we are aware of no requirement
that a trial court in a criminal case, without a motion
or request from the parties, must ask why plea nego-
tiations failed. We conclude that Haeg has not shown
that any ervor occurred,

FN20.See State v. Jomes, 751 P.2d 1379,
1381 {Alaska App.1988).

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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Haeg's claim that the district court failed to rule on
an outstanding motion

Haeg claims that Judge Murphy failed to rule on his
motion “protesting the State's use” of the statement
Haeg claims he gave during plea negotiations. But
Haeg mischaracterizes the motion that was filed seek-
ing dismissal of the charges. Although he moved to
dismiss the charges on various grounds, he did not
assert that the State had violated Evidence Rule 410.
He did not mention this issue until he replied to the
State's opposition to his motion to dismiss the infor-
mation, where he told the court that “[t]here is an-
other piece of information that needs to be ad-
dressed.”

Judge Murphy was not required to rule on Haeg's
new contention. A trial court can properly disregard
an issue first raised in a reply to an opposition. B 1f
Haeg wanted a ruling on this issue, he was obligated
to file a new motion asking for one. Because he did

not ask for a ruling, he has waived this claim 2

FN2|.See Demmert v. Kootznoowoo, Inc,
960 P.2d 6006, 611 (Alaska 1998) (“The
function of a reply memorandum is to re-
spond te the opposition to the primary mo-
tion, not to raise new issues or argy-
ments....”}, Alaska State Emplovees Ass'n v.
Alaska Pub. Employees Ass'n, 813 P2d 669,
671 n. 6 (Alaska 1991) {(“As a matter of
fairness, the trial court could not consider an
argument raised for the first time in a reply
brief.”").

FN22.See Staveniord v. Siaie, 66 P.3d 762,
767 (Alaska App.2003); Marine v, State,
934 P.2d 1321, 1327 (Alaska App.1997).

Haeg's claim that the district court prejudiced his
defense

Haeg contends that Judge Murphy made inconsistent
rulings about who-the court or the jury-would deter-
mine whether Haeg was “hunting” when he took the
wolves. But Haeg has not shown that Judge Murphy's
rulings prejudiced his defense.

The first ruling that Haeg refers to came when he
moved to dismiss the information. There, he argued

Page
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that the hunting same day airborne charges were im-
proper because he was acting under the authority of
the predator control program. In his view, even
though he had taken the wolves outside the area
where the predator control program was authorized,
the State could only charge him for violating the con-
ditions of the permit. Judge Murphy rejected this
argument, noting that the State had charged Haeg for
taking wolves outside of the permit area. She ex-
plainéd that Haeg might defend against these charges
on the grounds that he was acting in accordance with
his permit, but that this was a factual issne that would
be decided by the fact finder at trial.

*9 The second ruling that Haeg refers to occurred
when Judge Murphy addressed Haeg's pre-trial ar-
gument that his permit prectuded a conviction for any
hunting violations. Judge Murphy found that this was
a legal question that shé, not the jury, had to decide.

Haeg asserts that Judge Murphy's rulings prejudiced
his defense because they prevented him from arguing
that he was not hunting, But Judge Murphy allowed
Haeg te make this very argurnent.

At trial, the parties had a lengthy discussion concern-
ing Haeg's desire to tell the jury that he was not
“hunting” same day airbome when he took the
wolves. Haeg's defense was that his conduct was not
“hunting” because he was acting under a permit that
allowed predator control. He asserted that the statute
defining “predator control” excluded “hunting” and,
therefore, “he couldn't have been knowingly violating
a hunting law.”

Judge Murphy uvltimately told Haeg that he could
argue to the jury that if the jury found that he was
acting in accordance with the permit, then he was not
hunting. Consequently, Haeg argued at length during
his closing that he was not guilty of hunting same day
airborne because his predator control permit allowed
him to kill wolves same day airborne. Despite this
argument, the jury found Haeg guilty of the hunting
charges. Haeg's defense was not prejudiced by Judge
Murphy's rulings.

Haeg's claim that the district court failed to give a
required jury instruction

Haeg argues that Judge Murphy was required to sua
sponte give a jury instruction that Zeller's plea

Page 8§

agreement required him fo testify against Haeg. But
under Criminal Ruie 30({b), there are no required jury
instructions. Rather, the rule provides that a trial
court “shall instruct the jury on all matters of law
which it considers necessary for the jury's informa-
tion in giving their verdict.” The rule that required
instructing the jury that it should view the testimony
of an accomplice with distrust was rescinded in 1973.
£N23 . : L
== Because Haeg did not request this or a similar
instruction, he has not preserved the issue for ap-
peal [

EN23 See Heaps v. State, 30 P.3d 109, 1135
(Alaska App.2001).

FN24.5¢eAlaska R.Crim. P. 30{a) (objec-

tions to instructions must be raised before
the jury retires to deliberate).

Haeg's claim that the district court held him to a term
of the failed plea agreement

Haeg claims that Judge Murphy unfairly held him to
a term of the failed plea agreement. Haeg asserts that
this occurred during an exchange between his attor-
ney and the judge during a post-trial status hearing.

The purpose of this status hearing was to establish a
date for sentencing and to determine whether a de-
fense witness would be available. The prosecutor
indicated that he intended to call witnesses at sen-
tencing in an effort to prove that Haeg had committed
uncharged misconduct-in particular, the prosecuter
wanted to show that in 2003 Haeg had been involved
in unf{awfully taking a moose same day airbomne.

When Judge Murphy asked why the State had not
charged the moose incident along with the current
case, the prosecutor explained that initially, during
plea negotiations, the parties had discussed litigating
the issue at sentencing. Haeg's attorney then said he
did not “know how ... {a discussion of a moose case]
could be part of any negotiations to the un-negotiated
case.” Judge Murphy responded, “Well, it was at one
point.” Haeg argues that in this exchange, Judge
Murphy was forcing Haeg to comply with a term of
the failed plea agreement. We disagree.

*10 At sentencing, the State is allowed to put on evi-
dence of a defendant's uncharged offenses even when
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the defendant objects. ™2 A sentencing court may
consider this evidence if it is sufficiently verified and
the defendant is provided the opportunity to rebut
it "2 Here the record reflects that the State, irre-
spective of the failed plea agreement, was attempting
to show that Haeg had committed an uncharged of-
fense. The State was entitled to do so. We conclude
that Judge Murphy did not force Haeg to abide by a
term of the failed plea agreement. We note that she
later ruled that the State had not proven that Haeg
had committed the uncharged offense and she did not
consider it when imposing sentence,

EN23.5ee Pascoe v. State, 628 P2d 547,
349-50 (Alaska 1980) (State allowed at sen-
tencing, over defendant's objection, to put
on evidence of defendant's uncharged of-
fenses).

¢

FN26.See id

Haeg's claim that the district court erred by not or-
dering a defense witness to appear af sentencing

Haeg claims that Judge Murphy committed error by
not ordering his first attorney to testify at Haeg's sen-
tencing proceedings. Although Haeg subpoenaed this
attomney, the attormey did not appear. The record
shows that at sentencing Haeg did not ask Judge
Murphy to enforce the subpoena or seek any other
relief. Conseguently, this claim of error is waived.

Haeg's cluim that the district court erred when it
Jound that most of the wolves were taken in unit 19C

Haeg asserts that Judge Murphy erred when she
found that “a majority, if not all of the wolves taken
were in Junit ]19C.” Tt is true that the evidence did
not show that most of the wolves were killed in unit
19C. But taking Fudge Murphy's sentencing remarks
in context, we conclude that she found that Haeg was
taking wolves unlawfully in an effort to benefit his
own guiding operations. This finding is supported by
the record.

At trial, Haeg testified that he and Zellers knew that
they were killing the wolves outside of the permit
area. And the evidence at trial showed that they spent
little time looking for wolves in unit 19D-East, the
permit area around McGrath. Instead, the first wolves

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Warks.
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were taken about thirty-five miles from Haeg's hunt-
ing lodge, which was located in unit 19C. Haeg took
at least one animal just ten miles from his hunting
grounds. Zellers testified that he and Haeg wanted the
game board to include unit 19C in the predator con-
trol progtam,

In addition, Haeg testified that he guided moose
hunts in units 19C and 19B. He admitted that they
had killed one of the wolves in unit 19B. And al-
though Haeg testified that he did not guide moose
hunts on the Swift River where the rest of the wolves
were taken, he conceded that some of the moose
taken during his guided hunts come from that area.
He testified that he could schedule eight or nine
moose hunts in a season and that he charged a sig-
nificant amount of money per person per hunt. He
also testified that he and Zellers killed the wolves
because they were frustrated that the wolves were
killing so many moose,

Based on this record, we conclude that Haeg has not
shown that Judge Murphy committed clear exror
when she found that Haeg was illegally killing
wolves for his own commercial benefit,

Why we find that Judge Murphy intended to suspend,
not revoke, Haeg's guide license

*11 While this appeal was pending, Haeg filed a mo-
tion requesting that we modify the portion of his sen-
tence revoking his guide license. At that time, we
indicated that even if Haeg was entitled to any relief,
we would not grant it until we decided the appeal.
(We also told Haeg that based on his claim that this
portion of the sentence was illegal, he could seek
mmediate relief from the district court. He appar-
ently did not do so.) Although Haeg did not include
this issue in his claims of error, we deem the motion
a request to amend his points on appeal and resolve
it. For the reasons explained here, we conclude that
Judge Murphy intended to suspend Haeg's guide li-
cense, not to revoke it.

Judge Murphy ordered the guiding license “revoked
for five years .” The written judgments reflect the
same language. The revocation was part of Haeg's
sentence for violating the law and was not a condition
of probation.

Under AS 12.55.015(c), Judge Murphy could “invoke
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any authority conferred by law to suspend or revoke a
license.” The authority to suspend or revoke a guid-
ing license is provided in AS 08.54.720(0)(3). In
Haeg's case, this statute required Judge Murphy to
order the game board to suspend Haeg's guide license
for a “specified period of not less than three years, or
to permanently revoke [it].” But Judge Murphy com-
bined the two alternatives and ordered the license
revoked for five years. Under the authorizing statute,
Judge Murphy could either order the license sus-
pended for five years or else revoke it permanently.
But the statute did not allow her to revoke it for five
years,

Although Judge Murphy had the authority to revoke
the license, the circumstances indicate that she meant
to suspend it. When Judge Murphy imposed sentence,
she was using pre-printed judgments that required her
to fill in blank spaces. The judgments have a section
where various types of licenses can be “revoked”
followed by a blank space for the court to insert the
length of the revocation, Judge Murphy wrete “for 5
years” in the blank space. But the option to suspend a
license was not offered. Because Judge Murphy
wrote “S vears” rather than “permanently,” we con-
clude that she meant to suspend the license for a
specified period of time rather than to revoke it per-
manently. We therefore order the district court to
modify the judgments in this case to show that Haeg's
guide license was suspended for five years,

Haeg's appeal in Case No. A-10015

While his original appeal was pending, Haeg filed a
motion in the district court asking for the return of his
property that had been seized by the State. Because
his case was on appeal, the district court ruled that it
lacked jurisdiction to address Haeg's motions. Haeg
then asked this court to order his property released.
We remanded the case back to the district court “for
the limited purpose of allowing Haeg to file a motion
for the return of his property{.]”

Once the case was remanded, Haeg-relying on
Alaska Criminal Rule 37-asked the district court to
suppress the evidence that had been seized during the
criminal investigation and to return the property to
him. Haeg argued that the State had viclated his fun-
damental rights by not giving him notice that he bad
the right to contest the seizure of his property, He
also argned that AS 16.05.190 and AS 16 .05.195
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were unconstitutional on their face and as applied to
him because they did not require the State to provide
such notice, Magistrate David Woodmancy ordered
some property returned, but otherwise denied Haeg's
request. Haeg initially petitioned for review of this
decision, but we concluded that he had the right to
appeal.

Why we uphold the district court's decision not to
suppress evidence or return to Haeg property Judge
Murphy had ordered forfeited

*12 Haeg contends that Magistrate Woodmancy
erred when he refused to suppress the evidence and to
return to him the property the State seized during the
criminal investigation of this case. The forfeited
property consisted of the airplane and the firearms
that Haeg and Zellers used when taking the wolves,
the wolf hides, and a wolverine hide.

Haeg contends that he was entitled to have the prop-
erty suppressed as evidence and returned to him be-
cause the State, when it seized the property during
the criminal investigation, did not expressly inform
him that he had the right to challenge the seizure. He
also asserts that the statutes that authorize search and
seizure In criminal cases-AS  12.35.020, AS
12.35.025, AS 16.05.190, and AS 16.05.195-are un-
constitutional because they do not require the State to
provide owners of seized property with notice that
they have the right to challenge the seizure. He
claims that the federal and state due process clauses
require this notice,

To support his claim under the federal due process
clause, Haeg relies primarily on the Ninth Circuit's
decision in Perkins v. City of West Covina®Z Tn
City of West Covina, police lawfully searched a home
where a murder suspect was renting a room. ™2 pyr.
suant to a search warrant, police officers seized prop-
erty from the home 2 The police provided the land-
lord, Perkins, with written notice of the search, an
inventory of the property seized, and information
necessary for him to contact the police investiga-
tors. ™ But the written notice did not explain the
procedures for retrieving his property 2 Although
police later told Perkins that he needed to file an ap-
propriate motion in court, Perkins ran into difficulty
when he attempted to retrieve his property. ™ Uiti-
mately, he filed a civil suit in federal court, alleging a
violation of his constitutional rights in that the notice

EXHIBIT ____9_-——-—-”
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did not mention he had the right to seek the return of
FMN33

his property. —=

FN27.113 F.3d 1004 (9th Cir.1997),
rev'd 525 U.S. 234, 119 S.Ct 678, 142
L.Ed.2d 636 (1999).

FN28./d at 1006.
FN29./d

FN30./d at 1007.
FN31./d

FN32.74

FN33./d at 1607, 1012-13.

The Ninth Circuit ruled that in these circumstances,
due process required the government to provide writ-
ten notice explaining to property owners how to re-
trieve the property. =2 The Ninth Circuit held that,
among other things, “the notice must inform the ...
[property owner] of the procedure for contesting the
seizure or retention of the property taken, along with
any additional information required for initiating that
procedure in the appropriate court.” ™2 The notice
“also must explain the need for a written motion or
request to the court stating why the property should
be returned,” P26

FN34./d at 1012-13.
FN35./d at 1013,

FN36./d

Relying on the Ninth Circuit's decision, Haeg con-
tends that the federal due process clause required a
similar notice when the state troopers seized his
property. But in City of West Covina v. Perkins, %
the United States Supreme Court reversed the Ninth
Circuit's decision and rejected the notice requirement

imposed by the Ninth Circuit 2428

FN37.525 U.8. 234, 119 8.Ct. 678, 142
L.Ed.2d 636 (1999).
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FN38.Jd

The Supreme Court ruled that when police lawfully
seize property for a criminal investigation, the federal
due process clause does not require the police to pro-
vide the owner with notice of state-law remedies 2
The Court explained that “state-law remedies ... are
established by published, generally available state
statutes and case law.” ™ Once a property owner
has been notified that his property has been seized,
“he can turn to these public sources to learn about the
remedial procedures available to him.” ™2 Accord-
ing to the Court, “no ... rationale justifies requiring
individualized notice of state-law remedies.” ™2 The
“entire structure of our democratic government rests
on the premise that the individual citizen is capable
of informing himself about the particular policies that
affect his destiny.” 2%

FN39.Jd at 240, 119 S.Ct, at 681,

FN40.Jd at 241, 119 8§.Ct. at 681.

FN4l.Jd at241. 119 S.Ct. at 681-82,

FN42.7d at 241, 119 S.Ct. at 681.

FN43.7d at 241, 119 S.Ct. at 682 (quoting
Atking v. Parker, 472 U5, 115, 131, 105
S.Ct. 2520, 86 L.Ed.2d 81 (1985)).

*13 In other words, federal due process is satisfied if
the police give property owners notice that their
property has been seized and if state law provides a
post-seizure procedure to challenge the seizure and
seek the return of the property. In Haeg's case, he
received notice that his property was seized, and
Alaska Criminal Rule 37 provides for a post-seizure
procedure allowing property owners to seek retum of
their property.™* In light of the Supreme Court's
decision in City of West Covina, we conclude that
Haeg's due process rights under the federal constitu-
tion were not violated.

FN44.Alaska R.Crim. P. 37(c) (“[Any] ...

person aggrieved by an unlawful search and
seizure may move the court in the judicial
district in which the property was seized or
the court in which the property may be used
for the return of the propertyf.1™).

EXHBIT ____ﬁv_—————‘
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To support his claim under Alaska's due process
clause, Haeg relies primarily on the decisions in F/V
American Eagle v. State™® and State v. F/V
Barangf ™ He points out that under these decisions,
property owners have “an immediate and unqualified
right to contest the {S]tate's justification” when the
State seizes their property.” But nothing in either
of these decisions imposes a notice requirement simi-
lar to that discussed by the Ninth Circuit in City of
West Covina. Rather, in both cases, the State pro-
vided the properg} owners notice that their property
had been seized ™™ This notice and the subsequent
opportunity to challenge the seizures under Criminal
Rule 37 satisfied due process. ™ Here, Hacg had
notice of the seizure, which in turn provided him with
the opportunity to challenge the seizure of his prop-
erty.

’

FN45.620 P.2d 657 (Alaska |1980).

FN46.677 P.2d 1245 (Alaska 1984).

FN47 £V American Eagle, 620 P.2d at 667.

FN48.See [V Baranof, 677 P.2d at 1255-56
(in rem forfeiture action helding that due
process was provided when owners were no-
tified that property was seized and were
given an opportunity to contest the State's
reasons for seizing property); F/V American
Eagle, 620 P.2d at 666-68 (in rem forfeiture
action).

FN49.F/V Baranof, 677 P.2d at 1255-36.F/V
American Eagle 620 P 2d at 667.

Conceivably, there might be circumstances where the
Alaska due process clause would require the govern-
ment to take affirmative measures to notify a prop-
erty owner of the right and the procedure to challenge
the seizure of his or her property. But nothing in
Haeg's case supports a finding that his due process
rights were violated. Haeg was present when the
troopers searched his residence in Soldotna and
seized an airplane of his, a shotgun, and a rifle. Con-
sequently, he knew that his property had been seized
as part of a criminal investigation. In addition, less
than two weeks after his property was seized, he re-
tained an attorney. Thus, he had access to legal ad-
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vice regarding the seizure. Finally, Haeg-albeit some
months after the seizure-asked the district court to
bond out his airplane. Under these circumstances, the
fact that the State did not specifically inform Haeg
that he had the right to challenge the seizure did not
infringe his state due process rights.

Based on the record in Haeg's case, we conclude that
neither the federal nor the state constitutions required
the State, after giving Haeg notice that his property
had been seized, to separately inform him that he had
a right to contest the seizure of his property. Because
neither Haeg's federal nor state due process rights
were vieclated, Magistrate Woodmancy did not err
when he denied Haeg's post-conviction motion to
suppress evidence seized during the criminal investi-
gation. For similar reasons, we reject Haeg's attack
on the constitutionality of Alaska's seizure and forfei-
ture statutes, AS 12.35.020, AS 12.35.023, AS
16.05,19¢, and AS 16.05.195. Furthermore, we note
that Haeg's motion to suppress was waived because
he failed to file it prior to trial =2

FNs0.SeeAlaska R.Crim. P. 37(c); Alaska
R.Crim. P. 12{b) and {e).

*14 We also conclude that Haeg provided Magistrate
Woodmancy no grounds for overturning Judge Mur-
phy's decision to forfeit property related to Haeg's
hunting violations. Haeg argued at sentencing against
forfeiture of the airplane. At sentencing, Haeg's at-
torney did not contest the fact that the airplane was
the one that Haeg and Zellers used when unlawfully
taking the wolves, nor did he claim that Haeg was
not the airplane's owner. Rather, he argued that the
airplane should not be forfeited because Haeg used
the plane “not only for guiding, but ... also ... for part
of his economic livelihood of flight seeing, and if ...
[the court forfeits] his plane ... he won't even be able
to do that.... [M]aybe over the next few years ... he's
going to have ... to beef up more work for his flight
seeing business, ... [and with the airplane} at least
he'd have the means to do it.” The attorney empha-
sized that “if you take his plane ... he'd be out of the
guiding business, he'd be out of the flight seeing
business, he'll just be out of business. Period. After
twenty-one years of an occupation, just it's gone.”

Haeg did not object to the forfeiture of the shotgun,
the rifle, or the animal hides. The record supports
these forfeitures. At trial, Zellers testified that they
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had specifically purchased the shotgun to use for the
predator control program and that they used it to
unlawfully take the wolves. Zellers also testified that
the rifle was used to unlawfully take one wolf. And
finally, Haeg testified that he and Zellers had taken
the animal hides unlawfully. Because the record sup-
ports Judge Murphy's forfeiture of the property relat-
ing 1o Haeg's hunting violations and Haeg did not
show why the decision to forfeit this property should
be overturned, we affirm Magistrate Woodmancy's
decision to not return the forfeited property to Haeg.

Haeg also claims that Magistrate Woodmancy erred
when he resolved Haeg's motion to suppress evi-
dence and return of property without an evidentiary
hearing. But Haeg has not shown that Magistrate
Woodmancy abused his discretion. The basis of
Haeg's post-conviction motion was his assertion that
the State, when it seized Haeg's property, was re-
quired to tell him that he had a right to challenge the
seizure, This was a question of law that Magistrate
Woodmancy could resolve without an evidentiary
hearing. And as we have already explained, the State
was not required to notify Haeg that he had a right to
chailenge the seizure of his property,

Other potential claims

Haeg's briefs and other pleadings are sometimes dif-
ficult to understand, and he may have intended to
raise other claims besides the ones we have discussed
here, To the extent that Haeg may be attempting to
raise other claims in his briefs or in any of his other
pleadings, we conclude that these claims are inade-
quately briefed ™

FN51.See Patersen v. Mutyal Life Ins. Co. of
New York 803 P.2d 406, 410 (Alaska 1990)
(issues that are only cursorily briefed are
deemed abandoned); see also 4.H_v. W.P..
896 P.2d 240, 243-44 (Alaska 1995) (waiv-
ing for inadequate briefing majority of fifty-
six arguments raised by pro se appeliant).

Conclusion

Haeg's convictions are AFFIRMED. The district
court shall amend the judgments to reflect that Haeg's
guide license was suspended for a period of five
years.
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